THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeal

RECEIVED

MAY 16 2016

SC Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Clifton Newman

---

Trial Case No.: 2006-CP-10-1577  
Appellate Case No. 2015-001844

---

Lawton Limehouse, Sr.....Appellant

Paul H. Hulsey and The Hulsey Litigation  
Group, LLC.....Respondent

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

Frank M. Cisa  
Cisa & Dodds, LLP  
858 Lowcountry Blvd., Suite 101  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
(843) 881-6530  
fax:(843) 881-5433  
E-mail: [frank@cisadodds.com](mailto:frank@cisadodds.com)

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

### *Admission of the Class Action RICO Complaint.*

- I. Did the Trial Court err in allowing the introduction into evidence of the thirty-three (33) page Class Action RICO Complaint which was filed in the United States District Court by the Defendants as pleadings contain allegations and hearsay and are not allowed to be submitted to the jury for its deliberations pursuant to Rule 43(g), SCRPC.

### *Admission of hearsay*

- II. Did the Trial Court err in allowing the Defendant, Paul H. Hulsey, to testify about conversations that he had with the clients he represented in the Class Action Suit filed in the United States District Court, as well as testify to statements made to him by other individuals as the testimony was offered for the truth of the matter asserted and was hearsay.

### *Fair Report Privilege*

- III. Did the Trial Court err by charging the jury that the Defendants were entitled to the protection of the Fair Report Privileged as the defamatory statements made by Hulsey are not a report on the contents of a public record.

### *Settlement of the Class Action RICO Case*

- IV. Did the Trial Court err by failing to allow evidence of the terms of the settlement of the action filed in the United States District Court by the Defendants as Plaintiff was seeking to prove that the defamatory statements made by the Defendant, Paul H. Hulsey, that were published in the April 24, 2004 newspaper

article were false and the amount of the settlement and the reasons for the settlement had a tendency to make Plaintiff's contention that the statements were false more probable under Rule 401, SCRE.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Appellant, Lawton Limehouse, Sr., ("Limehouse") filed this action in the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County on April 19, 2006 seeking recovery against the Respondents, Paul H. Hulsey and The Hulsey Litigation Group, LLC (collectively "Hulsey") pursuant to a cause of action for defamation. (R.p.8; Complaint). The case originally came before Judge Roger M. Young who presided over jury trial on damages and the jury returned a verdict of Two Million Three Hundred Ninety Thousand 00/100 (\$2,390,000.00) Dollars in actual damages and Five Million 00/100 (\$5,000,000.00) Dollars in punitive damages against Hulsey. The judgment was entered on February 7, 2008 (R.p.5; jury verdict/judgment).

The case was then reversed/vacated and remanded by the South Carolina Supreme Court by Opinion filed June 26, 2013. (Limehouse vs. Hulsey, 404, S.C. 93, 744 S.E.2d 566 (2013 S.Ct).

Hulsey filed their Answer on August 12, 2013 (R.p.15 Answer).

The case came before Judge Clifton Newton who presided over a jury trial on March 23-27, 2015. The jury returned a verdict for the Defendants (R.p.6; jury verdict/judgment).

Limehouse filed a Motion for New Trial Absolute (R.p.620; Motion filed April 6, 2015). By Order filed July 29, 2015, Judge Clifton Newton denied Limehouse's Motion for a New Trial Absolute (R.p.4; Order of Judge Clifton Newton filed July 29, 2015).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

As alleged in the Complaint this case arose from false and defamatory statements made

by Hulsey to a reporter with the Charleston Post and Courier. The statements included:

- A. That the Plaintiff engaged in a classic racketeering scheme;
- B. That the Plaintiff's conduct set the community 150 years;
- C. That the Plaintiff engaged in a blatant case of indentured servitude;
- D. That the Plaintiff created a perfect racketeering enterprise just like Tony Sapanano.

(R.8;Complaint, paragraph 11) ( Defendants' Exhibit 9, R.p. 623).

In 1999, Limehouse and his son started a temporary staffing agency called L&L Services, LLC in the cellar in the bottom of his home. (R.p.161-162). The business continued to grow to employee approximately 200 people; had fourteen (14) to fifteen (15) vans; and a line of credit with Southcoast Bank (R.p.166-168).

Paul H. Hulsey is a practicing attorney (R.p.440-441).

On April 23, 2004, Hulsey filed a Class Action RICO lawsuit on behalf of certain individuals against Limehouse, Limehouse's son, L&L Services, LLC, WLL, LLC and unknown John Doe individuals and businesses (R.p.628) (Defendant's Exhibit 10).

On the day the Complaint was filed in Federal Court, Paul H. Hulsey, had a conversation with James Scott, a reporter from the Post and Courier, during which Hulsey told James Scott (1) this is a classic racketeering scheme; (2) this sets the community back 150 Years; (3) this is a blatant case of indentured servitude; and (4)L&L Services took advantage of the complexity of the system. They have created a perfect racketeering enterprise just like Tony Soprano. (R. pp.86-90). These statements were published in an article in the Post and Courier on April 24, 2004. (R.p.623, Defendant's Exhibit 9). Hulsey knew when he talked to James Scott that his quotes were going to be published in the Post and Courier. (R.p.478). According to the

testimony of the Director of Circulation of the Post and Courier 99,148 newspapers were sold on April 24, 2004 and the newspaper was read by 228,040 people. (R.p. 140-144).

On Monday following the publication of the April 24, 2004 article, L&L Services's phone was ringing off the hook with people calling to cancel their service. Limehouse closed the business down. (R.p.192-193).

In the television series, "The Sopranos", Tony Soprano was depicted and portrayed as a murderer; a drug dealer; ran a prostitution ring; owned a strip club; engaged in money laundering; was cruel; was violent; engaged in extortion; stole; and engaged in infidelity (R.p.184-185).

### ARGUMENT

- I. **The Trial Court's admission of the thirty-three (33) page Class Action RICO Complaint which was filed in the United States District Court by the Defendants into evidence violated Rule 43(g), SCRCP and constituted inadmissible hearsay.**

Rule 43(g) provides that "the pleadings shall not be submitted to the jury for its deliberations." The comment to Rule 43(g) provides "Rule 43(g) preserves Circuit Rule 85, except it prohibits submitting the pleadings to the jury for its deliberations, a needed change to avoid the jury treating pleadings as evidence..."

During the trial, Judge Newman allowed into evidence the thirty-three (33) page RICO Complaint that was filed by the Defendants in United States District Court on behalf of their six (6) clients. He overruled the objection of Appellant's counsel. (ROA 169, Vol 2; R.p.628; Defendant's Exhibit 10, Class Action Complaint). The admission of

the Complaint prejudiced the Plaintiff as the Complaint was considered by the jury as evidence and it contained hearsay.

Examples of the hearsay contained in the Complaint are as follows:

- a. paragraph 12 of the Complaint describes “the Defendants scheme of reporting false social security and other identification numbers”.
- b. Paragraph 14 states “the housing the Limehouse Defendants provide is substandard and yet the workers are charged for it.”
- c. Paragraph 15 states “that Defendants developed a scheme whereby they would illegally, willfully and consistently withhold portions of employees’ wages without any justification or right under state or federal law.”
- d. Paragraph 23 states that “Defendants, by and through their agents, advised Flores that if he worked two shifts in one day he would need to use a different name at the second job.”
- e. Paragraph 24 states that “the Defendants then provided Flores with a resident alien card and Social Security card bearing the name of Oscar Mejias.”
- f. Paragraph 58 states that “the individual Defendants participated in the operation and management of this enterprise and conduct its affairs through their pattern of unlawful activity, including execution of their Scheme to Defraud, corrupt, cheat, steal, and convert the money and property of the Plaintiffs.
- g. Paragraph 65 states in part that “the plan included the employment of

temporary laborers, typically aliens from Latin American countries, who were then effectively held in indentured servitude by a scheme of forced housing, transportation, threats of retaliation, and coercion.”

- h. Paragraph 65 goes on to state “ in furtherance of this pattern, Defendants who used extortion and threats of retaliation by government authorities to keep Plaintiffs as virtual slaves.”
- i. Paragraph 78 states “the Defendants transported and caused to be transported property or money belonging to Plaintiffs, knowing that it had been converted to the Defendants’ own use and benefit with a value in excess of \$5,000.00. (R.p.628, Defendants’ Exhibit 10, Class Action Complaint.

During a discussion concerning page line designations, Appellant’s counsel made it clear that he was objecting to the Complaint coming into evidence as it was prohibited and contained hearsay. The exchange between Appellant counsel and the trial judge is as follows:

Mr. Cisa: Judge, I’m asking about allegations in the complaint. I’m trying to figure out what he knows of his knowledge. He doesn’t know anything of his own knowledge. And I think it’s inadmissible because we are talking about allegations of the complaint. Complaints don’t come into evidence.

The Court: I overrule that object by you.

Mr. Cisa: All right. Next is page 76, line 8 to 78, line 23. Again, he has no foundation to say the things he’s saying. I’m asking questions so I could find out information from a discovery standpoint. But he has no basis to

say these things. He's talking about what his clients told him. It's clearly hearsay too, Judge.

The Court: You are saying you have a lawyer who filed a suit based on what the client tells him, and then you are suing the lawyer because of the lawsuit, but you don't want the lawyer to be able to say what the client told him?

Mr. Cisa: I'm not suing the lawyer because of the lawsuit. I'm suing the lawyer because he said that my client engaged in indentured servitude, set the community back 150 years, that he created a perfect racketeering scheme just like Tony Soprano. That's why I'm suing this lawyer. I can't sue him for filing the lawsuit. Lawsuit is privileged. I understand that. I have immunity. If I sue somebody and I say bad things about them, they can't sue me because it's in the context of a civil proceeding. Just like this lawyer Hulsey can't sue me if I say he's greedy. I didn't say that, but he can't sue me in the courtroom for saying that because this is a judicial proceeding.

So, I'm not suing him about the lawsuit. I'm suing him about-- he knew James Scott was going to publish those statements in the newspaper. He said that in his deposition. He knew it. I'm suing him about the statements that damaged--I say damaged my client's reputation. I think he did. But I'm not suing him about the lawsuit, Judge. I'm not suing him about the lawsuit.

(R.p. 115-116).

The Court: Okay.

During the trial, the jury was reminded by Hulsey's RICO expert, Professor G. Robert Blakey, and defense counsel that the jury could read the Complaint and that it was in evidence.

The portion of the G. Robert Blakey's testimony is as follows:

Q. Is there anything that you would add to that, Professor?

A. No. Keep this in your mind and you can read the complaint.

(R.p.512, L.2-5.)

During closing arguments, Hulsey's attorney commented on the RICO complaint and reminded the jury that the complaint was in evidence as Exhibit 10 and that they can look at it.

(R.p.574, L.15 to L.18).

During the course of the trial Hulsey's attorney argued to the Court that pleadings, motions, judicial proceedings are all hearsay. (R.p.251).

**II. The Trial Court allowed the Defendant, Paul H. Hulsey, to testify about conversations he had with the clients he represented in the Class Action suit as well as other individuals to prove the truth of the statements he made to James Scott which were published in the April 24, 2004.**

Throughout the direct testimony of Paul H. Hulsey, the trial judge allowed Mr. Hulsey to testify to conversations he had with his clients and other individuals pursuant to his preparation of the Class Action Complaint that he filed in the United States District Court. Appellant's counsel continually objected on the basis that Mr. Hulsey laid no foundation for the testimony and that the testimony was hearsay. The Trial Court continually overruled Appellant's counsel objections.

The Appellant contends the following excerpts from the direct testimony of Paul H. Hulse are examples of hearsay that was offered for the truth of the matter asserted:

Q. Did that give you any concern for what you anticipated would be included in the lawsuit that you had ultimately filed based on having spoken with Mr. Scott?

A. Well, no. Actually, it was very gratifying and relieving. I asked Mr. Scott if he stood behind everything that he had written. Mr. Scott is bilingual, too. He speaks Spanish, too. So he had interviewed all the folks that he wrote about in those articles. He had personally interviewed.

Mr. Cisa: Your Honor, I would object on the basis of foundation. He can only get this information from somebody else. Hearsay.

The Court: All right. Mr. Hood, what do you say?

Mr. Hood: Your Honor, it's being offered to establish the foundation for him proceeding with the filing of the complaint. So instead of the truth of the matter asserted it's being offered to fo to the issue of forth cause of action to the Plaintiff's cause of action—fourth element rather.

The Court: All right. Overrule the objection.

A. I forgot what you asked. I'm sorry.

Q. So my question was you know—let me back up. Before you met with James Scott did you have an idea about – or had you heard facts about how the workers were being treated and had some concerns?

A. Yes, sir. I had the direct interviews with my clients and many others and I had the articles, so I had a pretty good idea about what was doing on but I wanted to meet

with Mr. Scott to confirm everything.

Q. And after your meeting with Mr. Scott can you tell us whether you had any concern about the story that you were hearing in your investigation compared to what Mr. Scott was telling you?

A. I had none whatsoever. We were on solid ground. I even learned about the vetting process that the newspaper does before they let somebody write an article like that.

Q. And did he indicate that he stood by the investigation that he had done?

A. I understood he stood by every word of it.

(R.p. 445, L.18 to R.p.447, L.6)

Q. All right. And tell us, we've heard a lot about the details in all the articles but can you give the jury just a sense of, you know, what you understood the facts supporting the racketeering claim that you described in your Exhibit 10 to be?

Mr. Cisa: Your Honor, I would object. He's got to have a foundation for what he's testifying to, and if it's based on hearsay I object to it, unless he's going to bring people in to testify in this courtroom because I can't cross-examine hearsay.

The Court: The object is overruled.

A. In taking with the employees, former employees and employees and people with the city and things like that we determined that the way in which the businesses L&L, and WLL were being run was—created—I guess the best way to say it is a very, very stressful work relationship where the workers were being coerced,

where they were being forced to do things, where they were being forced to go to certain places, where they were being forced to live where they had to live.

We found that the way in which they were treating them was not the normal give and take that you expect an employer-employee relationship nowadays. We didn't believe that they were being treated as the law says you treat them. The United States Constitution says that immigrant laborers are entitled to the same rights and privileges that every else was. Our conclusions were they hadn't been treated like that.

We saw that they were required to live in a certain place, that they were required to go to the workplace in vans. That the vans took them back to where they were required to live, that they had to go wherever the vans took them to work. By the way, not always to the same job every day. That if they complained they were threatened with begin turned into the authorities. There were threatened with the INS.

And these workers are scared to death. They are in the United States and they are trying to send money back to their families. They are on a tightrope and they are scared to death and that threat and coercion is just- drives them crazy because they can't do anything about it. They have to work.

So we found that there were threats, coercion. If someone complained about the hours they worked or that they didn't get paid they were threatened. They were threatened with being deported.

We found that the living conditions were not-well, not up to par as even bad.

Some of the living conditions were horrible. They don't want to live 31 people to a house. I guarantee you that. I've dealt with Hispanics my entire life. They are no different than anyone else is.

Mr. Cisa: Your Honor, I note an objection about all of this. It's all hearsay. He's laid no foundation whatsoever. He's just rambling on about—he didn't testify he lived in any house. He hadn't testified about anything that he knows of his own personal knowledge. It's all hearsay. (R.p. 448-450).

Q. During your investigation did you ever uncover something that you considered to cause you to doubt the validity of truthfulness of the information contained in Exhibit 10?

A. No, not at all. No.

Mr. Cisa: Your Honor, this is why I object because he's using all this hearsay for the purpose of proving the truth fo the matter asserted. Everything he said is hearsay and he's using it to prove the truth of the matter asserted, and that's why I objected to it.

The Court: All right, sir.

Mr. Cisa: Unless he's going to bring people in.

The Court: Mr. Hood, any response?

Mr. Hood: Your Honor, again, he's providing this background and the basis for his preparation of Exhibit Number 10 which was the subject of a newspaper article on the 24<sup>th</sup> of April, which is what we are here about and it goes directly to the – as I mentioned, the fourth element of their cause of action.

The Court: Yes, sir?

Mr. Cisa: He just asked him about proving the truth of everything in that complaint. That's what he just asked him, Judge. That's why he's offering his testimony for the jury, and it's all hearsay. He needs to bring somebody in to say they were coerced.

The Court: All right. Next question.

(R. p.452, L.13 to R.p.453, L.13)

Pursuant to Rule 602, SCRE “ a witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.”

Mr. Hulsey could have called his clients as witnesses to prove hearsay statements he published before the jury but he failed to do so. Mr. Hulsey was attempting to prove the truth of the statements that he made to James Scott which were published in the April 24, 2004 Post and Courier article through hearsay.

**III. The Trial Court charged the jury that he had determined as a matter of law that the Defendants are entitled to the protection of the Fair Report Privilege although the defamatory statements made by Hulsey were not a report of the contents of a public record.**

“Fair and impartial reports in newspapers of matters of public interest are qualified privileged.” Jones, 250 S.C. at 487, 158 S.E.2d at 913. “Under this defense [of qualified privilege], one who publishes defamatory matter concerning another is not liable for the publication if (1) the matter is published upon an occasion that makes it [qualifiedly or]

conditionally privileged, and (2) the privilege is not abused.” *Swinton Creek Nursery vs. Edisto Farm Credit*, 334 S.C. 469, 484, 514 S.E.2d 126, 134 (1999) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 593 (1977)). Whether the occasion is one which gives rise to a qualified privilege is a question of law. 334 S.C. at 485, 514 A.E.2d 126, 134...the trial court correctly ruled that the publication of the article is subject to the fair report privilege. However, “[t]he privilege extends only to a report of the contents of the public record and any matter added to the report by the publisher, which is defamatory of the person named in the public records, is not privileged. *Jones*, 250 S.C. at 487, 158 S.E.2d at 913. Where there is conflicting evidence, “the question whether [a qualified] privilege has been abused is one for the jury.” *West v. Morehead*, 396, S.C. 720 S.E.2d 495 (2011).

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