**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

On Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

MAR 15 2016

Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2066-CP-10-1577
Appellate Case No. 2015-001844

Lawton Limehouse, Sr.,

Appellant,

v.

Paul H. Hulsey and The Hulsey
Litigation Group, LLC,

Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS
Paul H. Hulsey and The Hulsey Litigation Group, LLC**

HOOD LAW FIRM, LLC
Robert H. Hood (SC #2599)
James B. Hood (SC #70212)
J. Collier Jones (SC #101767)
Deborah H. Sheffield, *Of Counsel*, (SC #2757)
172 Meeting Street
P.O. Box 1508
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-4435
Info@hoodlaw.com

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

Limehouse cites to *QHG of Lake City* in support of his argument that he was offering the settlement terms for “another purpose,” namely, to show that the Hulsey’s statements to the reporter about the federal RICO complaint “lacked merit and veracity.” However, the opinion in that case does not support his position. There, the plaintiff hospital was asserting claims against one of its doctors for breach of contract to repay loans. On appeal, the defendant asserted the trial court erred by admitting into evidence a \$250.00 check she sent to the hospital which she contended, was written as a part of a settlement negotiation and should have been excluded under Rule 408, SCRE. The Court held that the record did not show any settlement negotiations, and the only evidence was that the check was her first payment on the loan, stating: “Nothing in the rule against settlement testimony requires courts to exclude evidence that a party tendered a sum mutually understood to be due. Therefore, the special referee committed no error in admitting McCutcheon's check.” *Id.* at 111-12.

The hospital’s offer of the check to prove the amount due on the loan has no comparison to Limehouse’s attempt to use the settlement amount and terms as evidence of the truth of Hulsey’s statements about the federal RICO complaint. Moreover, the amount of the subsequent settlement of the federal RICO action could not have been relevant to Hulsey’s statements to the reporter when the complaint was filed. *See Padgett v. Sun News*, 278 S.C. 26, 31, 292 S.E.2d 30, 33 (1982) (accuracy of fair report of court filing should not be judged in light of subsequent filings).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT HULSEY WAS ENTITLED TO PRESENT TO THE JURY A FAIR REPORT PRIVILEGE AS AN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE BASED ON EVIDENCE THAT HIS COMMENTS TO THE NEWS REPORTER WERE ABOUT THE RICO COMPLAINT THAT HE HAD FILED IN FEDERAL COURT.

Limehouse argues that the jury verdict should be reversed on the ground that the Trial Court erred by charging the jury that Hulsey is entitled to the protection of the fair report privilege. First, Hulsey would note for the Court's attention that Limehouse does not challenge the jury charge on the fair report privilege, and in fact, the Trial Court gave the charge as he requested. Second, while Hulsey maintains that the evidence supports the Trial Court's decision to submit the privilege to the jury, the transcript shows that Limehouse did not preserve for appeal any issue as to the sufficiency of the evidence on any of the defenses. Finally, if not foremost, in the absence of any challenge to the other defenses, the jury's general verdict should be affirmed under the two issue rule.

A. The jury's general verdict should be affirmed under the two issue rule.

"Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become the law of the case." *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010). "Under the two-issue rule, when a jury returns a general verdict in a case involving two or more issues or defenses, and the verdict is supported as to at least one issue or defense that has been presented to the jury free from error, the verdict will not be reversed." *Cole v. Raut*, 378 S.C. 398, 406-07, 663 S.E.2d 30, 34 (2008). "[W]hen a jury's general verdict is supportable by more than one cause of action submitted to it, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all causes of

action.” *Anderson v. S. Carolina Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 322 S.C. 417, 420, 472 S.E.2d 253, 254 (1996).

In this case, Hulsey asserted other defenses in addition to the fair report privilege, i.e. truth and the fair comment privilege, but Limehouse has not presented any issue on appeal pertaining to those other defenses. On this record, application of the two issue rule in this case is comparable to and supported by the Court’s decision in *Gold Kist, Inc. v. Citizens & S. Nat. Bank of S. Carolina*, 286 S.C. 272, 282, 333 S.E.2d 67, 73 (Ct. App. 1985). In *Gold Kist*, the plaintiff sought to challenge a set-off on the defendant’s counter-claim, but it did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence on its own two claims for breach of express or implied warranties. In applying the two issue rule, the Court noted that plaintiff’s counsel had “acquiesced in a general verdict after having been cautioned that the verdict would deprive Gold Kist of the jury’s answers to the specific issues and defenses raised....” *Id.* at 74. Similarly, Limehouse also acquiesced in the general verdict form despite Hulsey’s request for special interrogatories.

On the fourth day of trial, Hulsey submitted a proposed verdict form with special interrogatories: “MR. HOOD: As it relates to the verdict form I handed up, Your Honor, the reason I had contained all of the special interrogatories on there were to address the complexity of the legal claims that have been brought and the defenses associated with them.” [ROA ___; Tr. II 6/21 – 25. ROA ___; Proposed verdict form.] However, Limehouse stated his preference for a general verdict form: “MR. CISA: That’s what I would prefer; you find for the plaintiff or you find for the defendant. If you find for the plaintiff what are the damages, what are the actual damages. That’s what I would prefer.” [ROA ___; Tr. II 9/1-4.]

On the last day of trial, the Trial Court informed the parties that it would be using a general verdict form. Hulsey again requested that the verdict form include special interrogatories on the defenses of the fair report and fair comment privileges. [ROA ___; Tr. III 15/11-24,]. At that time, Hulsey specifically referenced the importance of special interrogatories for any appellate review:

MR. HOOD: And the other reason I would propose to use interrogatories that are consistent with Your Honor's determinations as a matter of law would be to ensure that when we look back at this case and jury's determination that all parties would have some direction from the jury based on the interrogatories in terms of the evidence that was presented and whether the evidence supports the determinations reached by the jury. Without the special interrogatories we would run the risk of not knowing that information, and I think it would certainly make the record clearer and more easily determined for Your Honor in posttrial motions or anyone else who is looking at the ultimate result. [ROA ___; Tr. II 7/22 – 8/9.]

Nonetheless, Limehouse acquiesced in the use of a general verdict form: “MR. CISA: Your Honor, I think that [general] verdict form is fine....” [ROA ___; Tr. III 15/2-3.]

With the general verdict, there is no way of knowing how the jury may have ruled on the fair report privilege and Limehouse has not presented any challenge on the other defenses. Accordingly, the jury’s general verdict in favor of the Defendants should be affirmed under the two issue rule.

B. Hulsey established a qualified privilege in making his comments to the reporter about the federal court filing.

The Trial Court correctly charged the jury on the law of the fair report privilege as follows:

There are two types of qualified privileges applicable to this case, the fair report privilege and the fair comment privilege. I have determined as a matter of law that the defendants are entitled to the protection of the fair report privilege. The fair report privilege is a qualified privilege that protects fair and accurate reports of judicial records and proceedings and other official acts, reports and records. The fair report privilege does not

depend on the legal sufficiency of the allegations made in the judicial proceedings or the truth of the allegations, but consists of making a fair and substantially true account of the particular record or proceeding. This privilege, however, does not extend to and affords no protection for a defamatory statement made outside of public records, nor does it provide protection where a statement is made with actual malice. If you determine that the statement made was a fair and accurate report of *matters within public records* and without malice, you must find for the defendants.

[ROA ___; Tr. III 79/11 - 80/4 (emphasis added).] This charge on the fair report privilege is a correct statement of law. *Padgett v. Sun News*, 278 S.C. 26, 31, 292 S.E.2d 30, 33 (1982) (“Privilege in reporting a judicial record is not measured by the legal sufficiency of the charges made in the judicial proceedings or the truth of those charges. The privilege consists of making a fair and substantially true account of the particular proceeding or record.”); *Jones v. Garner*, 250 S.C. 479, 487, 158 S.E.2d 909, 913 (1968) (“Fair and impartial reports in newspapers of matters of public interest are qualifiedly privileged.”) In fact, while Limehouse noted an objection and requested a slight change in language during the colloquy regarding the Trial Court’s proposed charge,⁸ the Trial Court revised the charge as Limehouse requested (as indicated in the phrase emphasized in the quote above) and he did not make any objection after the jury was charged.⁹

⁸ MR. CISA: ...So I'd ask you insert the following words, if you determine that the statement made was a fair and accurate report of matters within the public records.

THE COURT: All right. *Matters within the public records*, you want me to add those words to the bottom there?

MR. CISA: Right to there. Judge, I think that's all that I have.

[ROA ___; Tr. III 10/16 – 11/5 (emphasis added).]

⁹ THE COURT: All right. Any additions? Before I speak to you in the moment, in the interim, are there any additions or so corrections to the charge or exceptions?

MR. CISA: None from the plaintiff. [ROA ___; Tr. III 86/16-19.]

The privilege of fair reporting is a mixed question of law for the court and question of fact for the jury. “Whether the occasion is one which gives rise to a qualified privilege is a question of law.” *West. v. Morehead*, 396 S.C. 1, 7-8, 720 S.E.2d 495, 499 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing *Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit*, 334 S.C. 469, 484, 514 S.E.2d 126, 134 (1999)). “Where there is conflicting evidence, ‘the question whether [a qualified] privilege has been abused is one for the jury.’” *Id.* (footnote omitted).

The article headline read: “Lawsuit Targets Staffing Agency – 6 laborers sue L&L Services;” and it describes the filing of the 33-page complaint and details of the allegations and the named defendants. [ROA ___; Def. Ex. No. 9.] The reporter testified that he called Hulsey on the day of filing for comment on the complaint. [ROA ___; Tr. I 192, 198/19-22.] The reporter further confirmed that the quotes attributed to Hulsey in the article were referencing the allegations in the complaint:

Q. Now, Mr. Scott, when you were discussing this complaint with Mr. Hulsey, you were talking during the entire conversation about the filing of the lawsuit, the complaint, and the various elements and allegations contained therein, correct?

A. Yes. The whole conversation would have been related to the case and this article.

[ROA ___; Tr. I 204/3-9. See also ROA ___, ___, ___; Tr. I 202/22-24; 203/10-14; 203/22 - 204/2.] Limehouse’s Counsel even acknowledged on the trial record that Hulsey’s comments to the reporter were about the federal lawsuit:

- “when Mr. Hulsey was talking to James Scott about the lawsuit he filed in federal court;” [ROA ___; Tr. I 85/7-8.]
- “he’s talking about his lawsuit in this article;” [ROA ___; Tr. I 86/15.]
- “there’s evidence in the record that Mr. Hulsey had talked to Mr. Scott for the

purpose of telling about a lawsuit that he had filed.” [ROA ___; Tr. II 96/15-17.]

At the close of the case, Hulsey renewed his motion for a directed verdict on the as to the fair report privilege and the Trial Court ruled that “the privilege applies. It's for the jury to determine whether those comments were beyond the record and/or if they were made with malice,” [ROA ___; Tr. II 343/18-21]:

THE COURT: I have been thinking about it and I determined that as a matter of law the defendants are entitled to protections of a fair report privilege based on whether the cases that primarily deal with news reporters talking about cases that have been filed and the cases that have extended that protection to individuals. So I believe that all things considered, including this being a conversation between the lawyer who filed the lawsuit and the news reporter that the fair report privilege applies to this case which necessitates a determination of whether or not the comments made were outside of that -- outside of the public records or whether the statements were made for factual malice.

So I'm granting -- determining as a matter of law as you suggest I should, Mr. Hood, that the fair report privilege applies. The jury determines -- and I'm not -- I don't know whether it's a question whether the fair comment privilege applies or whether it applies based on the comments because it's a jury issue as to whether any comments made extended beyond the privilege. So it's a question of structuring the jury charge to tell the jury about all that. [ROA ___; Tr. II 342/3 - 343/5.]

THE COURT: Yeah. I determine as a matter of law that a lawyer commenting on a lawsuit that they filed is covered by the fair report privilege but the comments have to be contained within the record and cannot be based on actual malice toward the other person. That's number one. And then number two, that it's for the jury to determine whether whatever comments made were fair comments on the matter of public interest or concern, or whether or not it was done for an unfair or dishonest purpose or with malice such that the privilege is lost. [ROA ___; Tr. II 344/21 - 345/5.]

As in *West v. Morehead*, the Trial Court correctly ruled that Hulsey's statements were subject to the fair report privilege because they related to the content of federal RICO complaint in the public file in the federal court. *West*, 720 S.E.2d at 499 ("Because the article relates to the content of public files on judicial proceedings, the trial court correctly ruled that the publication of the article is subject to the fair report privilege.") Likewise, accepting – only for the sake of this appeal¹⁰ – that there was conflicting evidence and permissible inferences as to whether Hulsey's description of the federal RICO complaint was a fair and substantially true account of that court filing or whether they were made with actual malice, the Trial Court properly submitted to the jury the question of whether there was an abuse of the privilege.

C. Limehouse did not preserve any objection to the fair report privilege.

Several appellate preservation rules apply to preclude Limehouse's request for a new trial on this issue. First, a failure to timely object to a jury instruction as required by Rule 51, SCRPC, forecloses appellate review. *Winters v. Fiddie*, 394 S.C. 629, 639, 716 S.E.2d 316, 321 (Ct. App. 2011). Second, a directed verdict motion is a prerequisite motion for a new trial on a ground that the evidence does not support the verdict. *McEntire v. Mooregard Exterminating Services, Inc.*, 353 S.C. 629, 578 S.E.2d 746 (Ct. App. 2003); Trial Handbook for South Carolina Lawyers § 37:9. Third, a motion for a new trial is properly denied where an alleged error in a jury charge is not raised in the motion. *Wren v. Kirkland Distrib. Co.*, 250 S.C. 178, 182, 156 S.E.2d 865, 866 (1967).

¹⁰ Hulsey moved for a directed verdict at the close of the Plaintiff's case on the ground that there was no conflicting evidence and a fair report privilege applied. [ROA ___; Tr. II 109/2-4. See also ROA ___; Tr. II 112/16-19.] The Trial Court denied the motion at that time. [ROA ___; Tr. II 120/1-6.] Hulsey renewed his directed verdict motion at the close of the case. [ROA ___; Tr. II 341.]

Fourth, an issue is not preserved for appellate review where the objection was made at trial on different grounds. *State v. Smith*, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601-02 (1999).

As noted above, the jury charge cannot be the basis for reversal of the jury's verdict since Limehouse did not object to the jury charge on the fair report privilege after the Trial Court added the language he requested. To the extent that Limehouse is asserting some separate challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence to support the Trial Court's ruling that Hulsey's statements were about the federal RICO complaint, such issue is not preserved because he did not make a motion for a directed verdict on the fair report defense. In fact, Limehouse did not make a motion for directed verdict on any claim or defense at the close of the case. [ROA ___; Tr. II 339/5-7.]

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